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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Review

The past year marked an important milestone for the development of the
Group, during which the Group completed the IPO process and eventually
the shares of the Company were successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 12 September 2016. The offering received positive
response from the market, and particularly the public offer shares were
significantly over-subscribed by approximately 1,695 times. We believe such
overwhelming response is a recognition of the Group'’s success over the years
which further demonstrates that its vision and ideas has been in the right
direction.

Leveraging the years of experience in the high-end markets under the belt of
our management team and our long-standing working relations with
international brands, for the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Group
recorded net profit of approximately HK$11.5 million. After taking out the
effect of the one-off listing expenses of approximately HK$11.2 million, net
profit was largely the same with that of last year. For the same period, our
revenue and gross profit amounted to HK$132.7 million and HK$47.3
million respectively, representing a year-on-year increase of 1.6% and 7.0%
respectively. The increase in gross profit was attributable to the decrease in
direct cost. For the period, our gross profit margin increased by 1.8 percentage
points to 35.6%.

Prospects

The Listing enabled us to step into the international platform. After the Listing,
CROSSTEC Group will actively explore business opportunities in the
international markets in a more in-depth manner than ever before. We are
also planning to establish new subsidiaries and new businesses overseas, first
by establishing subsidiaries in Europe and the Americas, and then by entering
the mainland Chinese and Japanese markets. We will also launch a research
and development center in Hong Kong to develop more value-adding
projects and enhance the Group’s competitive edges in the industry.

Lee Wai Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2016
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

SENENREEERRE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The following table
sets out certain information about the Directors as at the date of this annual
report:

Position

Name Age

"4 Fik B

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (ZE{24 ), aged 52, is one of the founders of the Group and
was appointed as the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. Lee is responsible for managing
the overall business operations and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Lee
has over 25 years of experience in the interior design industry. Prior to
establishing the Group in 1999, from 1997 to 1999, Mr. Lee was the director
of Cross Design Limited where he was responsible for overseeing the interior
design work streams and overall operations of the company. From 1992 to
1994, Mr. Lee served as a senior interior designer of Bowden Dewar
McFadzean Limited, responsible for the interior design of office premises.
Between 1989 and 1991, Mr. Lee was as an architect designer of Michael
H.K. Wong Architects Inc., responsible for the interior design of buildings.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

In addition to his professional experience in the industry, Mr. Lee was also
keen to share his expertise with the next-generation interior designers. Mr. Lee
was the guest speaker of the design department of Vocational Training
Council to present the topic on “Professional Practice — Tender Document”
and “Professional Practice — Project Management” on 19 January and 20
March, 2001, respectively. From September 2004 to August 2005, Mr. Lee
served as the external examiner for the higher diploma in interior &
environment design course, the higher diploma in interior design course, and
the certificate in design studies course of the Vocational Training Council.
From October 2000 to January 2001, Mr. Lee was a visiting lecturer (part-
time) of the School of Design of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Lee obtained his master of arts degree in design from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 1999 and received a bachelor’s degree
in interior design from the University of Manitoba in May 1989. In addition,
Mr. Lee is a member of various international interior designer professional
bodies. Mr. Lee has been a certified holder of the National Council for Interior
Design Qualification in North America since April 1994, a professional
member of the American Society of Interior Designers in the United States
since March 1995, a professional member of the International Interior Design
Association in the United States since 1995, a member of the Interior
Designer of Canada in Canada since 1994 and a registered interior designer
and member of the Association of Registered Interior Designers of Ontario in
Canada since September 1989. Mr. Lee has also been elected an International
Dual Member of the British Institute of Interior Design since April 2016. Since
May 2016, Mr. Lee has been fully accredited as a design professional by the
Society of British and International Design.

Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung and brother-in-law of Mr. Leung Pak Yin,
an executive Director. Mr. Lee is also a director of CGH(BVI), which has an
interest in the Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lau King Lok (214 %%), aged 51, joined the Group on 1 January 2016 and
is the chief financial officer of the Group. He was appointed as the Company
Secretary and an executive Director with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. Lau
is responsible for the overall management of financial, human resources and
administration of the Group. Mr. Lau has over 25 years of experience in the
accounting, auditing and corporate finance fields. Prior to joining the Group,
from October 2010 to December 2015, Mr. Lau served as the executive
director of Cypress Group of companies, where he was responsible for the
group’s daily operation. From December 1994 to August 2010, Mr. Lau
served as the group finance and administration manager, and subsequently as
the chief financial officer of the North Asia segment of the DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung Limited (formerly known as C Y Leung and Company), where he
was responsible for the company’s finance and treasury functions. From
September 1990 to July 1994, Mr. Lau was the division manager of accounts
and administration department of P&O Travel Limited, where he was
responsible for the company’s accounting and administration matters.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

Mr. Lau received a master’s degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia in December 2011. Mr. Lau has been an
associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales since February 2005. Mr. Lau is also an associate member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since August 1998 and a certified tax adviser
since January 2013. Mr. Lau has been an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (previously known as the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants) since February 1993 and a fellow member
since May 2000.

Mr. Leung Pak Yin (218#), aged 42, joined the Group on 13 September
2006 and is a project director (business development) of the Group. He was
appointed as an executive Director with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr.
Leung is responsible for client liaison and business development of the
Group. Mr. Leung has over 17 years of experience in sales and business
development. Prior to joining the Group, from 2004 to 2006, Mr. Leung
served as an account manager of Wharf T&T Limited, where he was
responsible for the company’s customers’ relations and sales management.
Between 2001 and 2002, Mr. Leung was the business development manager
of Magically Asia Limited, where he was responsible for developing strategy
and tactical plans to drive the business, managing customer and partner
relationships, handling sales project and facilitating new product
development. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Leung was an account manager of
New World Telephone Limited, where he was responsible for the
management of sales and customers relations.

Mr. Leung received a bachelor of science degree from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 1996.

Mr. Leung is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee and brother of Ms. Leung.

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman (¥&/##k), aged 53, joined the Group on 30 June
2004 and is the financial controller of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 18 March 2016. Mr. Lai is responsible for
monitoring the overall performance of the finance department in producing
the Group’s financial statements, managing the Group’s cash position,
responsible for all the Group secretarial documents and filing, overseeing the
audit and tax issues and contributing to management team’s decisions
regarding financial strategy. Mr. Lai has over 25 years of experience in
accounting and finance. Prior to joining the Group, from June 1998 to
December 2002, Mr. Lai served as an accountant (re-titled from revenue
accountant on September 1, 1999) of Sunday O/B Mandarin
Communications Limited, where he was responsible for revenue and
inventory functions at the finance department. From August 1994 to June
1998, Mr. Lai was employed by Daimler-Benz Purchasing Coordination
Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Daimler-Benz AG, where
his last position was an accountant and was responsible for all financial
functions of the company.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor of arts degree in economics from University of
Prince Edward Island (Canada) in May 1987 and a Master’s degree in
Practising Accounting from Monash University in November 2006. He is a
chartered professional accountant member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia, Canada since June 2015, an associate of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants since November 2011, a full
member of Certified Practising Accountants of Australia since September
2010, an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries since
September 2000 and an associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators since September 2000.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. So Chi Hang (8 %&18), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 22 August 2016, on which he
joined the Group. Mr. So is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Mr. So has over 25 years of experience
in finance with exposure in Hong Kong, the PRC, Australia, Taiwan and
Japan. Since October 2015, Mr. So has been the vice president of project
management of BSN Medical KK in Japan, where he was responsible for
guiding and monitoring the work of local outsourced accounting service
provider. Mr. So served as a business analyst consultant of STL Corp., Ltd
from May 2011 to December 2013, where he provided independent
consultation service in developing and monitoring the execution of business
strategies. He served as an associate director of KCS Management &
Consultancy (China) Co., Ltd from November 2008 to March 2011 and KCS
Limited from September 2007 to November 2008, where he supervised the
account servicing teams of the Corporate Accounting Division. Mr. So held
various positions while he was with ACNielsen (China) Ltd from October
1997 to April 2007 where his last position was the director of finance, where
he was responsible for the management of all finance and accounting
operations. He also served as an divisional accountant of the AFS Freight
Management Group in Australia from July 1993 to April 1997 where he was
responsible for accounting and taxation matters for the group’s non-Australian
companies, including Hong Kong and Shanghai, Papua New Guinea, New
Zealand and the US. From April 1991 to June 1993, Mr. So served as an
accountant of AIA Capital Corporation Limited. Before that, he served as the
group accountant of Desh Group from June 1990 till 1991. Mr. So started his
career as an auditor of Coopers & Lybrand from January 1989 to June 1990.

Mr. So obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia in August 1988. He has been a certified practising
accountant of Australian Society of CPAs since October 1993.
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Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (2132 A), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 22 August 2016, on which he joined
the Group. Mr. Lau is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to the Board. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in
architecture. From July 2012 to August 2013, he was the deputy development
and project director of Grandland Management Limited. He also served as a
senior manager of project development department of Hang Lung
(Administration) Ltd. from May 2011 to September 2011. Before that, he was
a project manager of Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited from August
2005 to May 2011. He was a resident project manager — Shenzhen of
Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited from May 2000 to October 2001.
Mr. Lau was the project manager of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd.
from May 1997 to May 2000 and Henderson (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
from July 1994 to May 1997. Before that, he served as a project architect of
Wong & Ouyang from September 1993 to July 1994. Mr. Lau started his
career as an assistant architect of Leigh & Orange Ltd. from May 1988 to April
1992 and served as a project architect between April 1992 and March 1993.

Mr. Lau obtained a master’s degree of architecture and a bachelor’s degree of
environmental studies from the University of Manitoba in Canada in May
1988 and October 1985. Mr. Lau is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects since September 1992. He is also a registered architect of the
Architects Registration Board under Architects Registration Ordinance (Cap.
408 of the Laws of Hong Kong) since October 1992 and authorized person
under section 3 of the Building Ordinance (Cap. 123 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) since August 1992.

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (¥£1E#€), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 August 2016, on
which he joined the Group. Mr. Heng is responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgement to the Board. Mr. Heng has over 17 years
of experience in banking and finance. Mr. Heng has been an independent
non-executive Director of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited (stock
code: 417) from November 2008 to December 2015. Since June 2011, Mr.
Heng is the managing partner and responsible officer of Springboard Capital
Limited. Prior to that, Mr. Heng was the managing director of The Royal Bank
of Scotland Plc, Hong Kong from May 2006 to October 2008. He was a
director of HSBC Securities (Asia) Limited and held senior positions of other
HSBC Group Companies from June 1999 to April 2006. He has held senior
positions in several major private financial institutions in Hong Kong and had
been registered with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as an executive
officer and the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong as a
responsible officer, carrying out various regulated activities.

Mr. Heng obtained a bachelor of arts and subsequently a master of arts in
June 1988 and March 1992 respectively from the University of Cambridge.
He has been a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales since December 2009 and The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors since July 2009, and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since July 1998.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following table sets out certain information about the senior management
personnel of the Group as at the date of this annual report:

BREEE
TEIINAFRANARESAERBARZETEN

Name Age  Position

1% T B

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie 49 Executive Assistant

REMa L 495 (THEE

Mr. Tsang Kam Hung 50  Project Director (Design)

BimELL 505 REME (R

Mr. Cheong Ka Wang 37  Project Director (Project Management)
REALE 7% REBE(REER)

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (R%H), aged 49, has been an executive
assistant of the Group since January 2016, where she is responsible for the
provision of overall administrative support to the executive management team
in daily operations including arranging and coordinating meetings, facilitating
communications between executive team and all staff. Ms. Leung has over 25
years of experience in finance. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Leung served
as the director of finance of NW Project Management Limited from May
2010 to October 2015. From June 2006 to May 2010, Ms. Leung was
employed by New World Hotel Management Limited, where her last position
was director of finance. From August 1997 to May 2006, Ms. Leung was
employed by Renaissance Harbour View Hotel, where her last position was
the director of finance. From November 1990 to August 1997, Ms. Leung was
employed by New World Hotels International Limited, where her last
position was assistant financial controller. Ms. Leung obtained a post-
experience certificate in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 1994 through part-time learning. She has been a member and a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and June
2003, respectively and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 1998.

Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee and sister of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, an
executive Director.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Tsang Kam Hung (& #78), aged 50, is a design project director and has
joined the Group since May 2011. Mr. Tsang is responsible for the
supervision of a design and creative team in Hong Kong and monitoring the
quality assurance of the products produced by factories in the PRC. He also
serves at the frontline to liaise with the clients identifying their needs, give
immediate solutions, consultations and alternatives in order to provide the
right answers that meet the client expectations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Tsang began his career as a designer at AJM Design Group Ltd. from April
1988 to January 1991. Mr. Tsang has over 25 years of experience in the
interior design industry, including serving in the in-house design team of the
corporate real estate department of Standard Chartered Bank (HK) Limited
from February 1998 to May 2008. From November 2009 to February 2011,
Mr. Tsang was the contract staff in branch management of channel
management of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Tsang obtained a
bachelor’s degree of fine arts in interior design from the Pratt Institute in the
United States in February 1995.

Mr. Cheong Ka Wang (&% % ), aged 37, is a project director — project
management of the Group since January 2016 and has joined the Group as a
senior project manager in July 2015. Mr. Cheong is responsible to lead the
project consultancy and construction team for overall management in
execution, control and completion of specific projects and ensuring
consistency with Company’s strategy, commitment and goals. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Cheong served as a director and project manager of
Paperspace Interiors Ltd. from 2011 to June 2015. From September 2006 to
September 2011, Mr. Cheong served as a project coordinator of CROSSTEC
Interiors Limited. Before that, Mr. Cheong was a senior project coordinator
and assistant designer of Benson Construction & Engineering Co. Ltd. from
October 2005 to September 2006. From July 2004 to October 2005, he
served as a site foreman of Bo Wing Construction Engineering Co. Ltd. Mr.
Cheong graduated from British Columbia Institute of Technology in Canada
with a management certificate of interior design in June 2003.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of bespoke and total
interior design solutions to the retail stores of global luxury jewelry and
fashion brands, which cover a wide range of services including millwork and
furniture provision, facade development and fabrication, interior solutions
and design and project consultancy. The Group is the largest Hong Kong
based luxury retail interior designer in terms of revenue in 2015. The Group
has been conducting its business since 1999 and has expanded its business to
China, the United States, Europe, Middle East and other Asian countries.

In 2016, despite the recent downturn in the tourism industry and retail sales
market in Hong Kong as well as the weakened global macro-economy, the
Group's operations and financial position have not been materially affected
due to its well-diverse client base in different geographical locations and its
capability to promptly respond to clients’ expansion, relocation or downsizing
plans. The long term business relationship between the Group and its clients
and the Group's strong reputation in the industry enable the Group to capture
new business opportunities from referrals by existing clients, the industry
peers and through its business development efforts. For example, the Group
completed a major millwork and furniture provision project in London with
contract sum of approximately HK$12.1 million which was referred by an
old client.

For the year ended 30 June 2016, the Group’s revenue, gross profit and profit
for the year were HK$132.7 million, HK$47.3 million and HK$11.5 million,
respectively, representing an increase of 1.6% and 7.0% and a decrease of
51.7% over the year ended 30 June 2015. The gross profit margin increased
by 1.8% from 33.8% in 2015 to 35.6% in 2016.

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

Going forward, the Group will continue to focus on its core business and
utilizing its available resources to engage in its current business. The Group
will also explore business opportunities associated with its core business such
as selective acquisition and partnership in order to strengthen its revenue base
and maximize both the return to the Shareholders and the value of the Group.
The Board believes that the Listing will enhance the corporate profile and
image, as well as strengthen the Group’s financial position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For our millwork and furniture provision and facade development and
fabrication services, the Group has committed to enhance its innovation and
research and development capabilities. The Group intends to establish a
research and development center in Hong Kong for product and material
application testing, developing new technologies and design prototypes, as
well as building special lighting and security systems. The Group expects the
demand of woodwork to increase during the two years ending 30 June 2018
because of the expansion plan of one of its top five clients to open 70 new
stores in the Americas by end of 2018.

With regards to the interior solutions services, as the Group only provides
interior solutions to its clients in Hong Kong and other Asian countries, it is
expected that the proportion of its contribution to the revenue to decrease
due to the downturn in the tourism industry and retails sales market in Hong
Kong and the Group’s strategies to focus more on millwork and furniture
provision due to the increase in demand of woodwork.

For design and project consultancy, the Group aims to expand its design and
creative team and recruit additional elite and experienced designers which
will enable the Group to take on projects with greater scale. The Group also
aims to recruit designers with more diverse experience in various creative
media, which will allow the Group to enrich its selection of services in the
future.

The Group is also actively diversifying and expanding its client base, while
we expect that our current key clients will continue contributing to large
percentage of the Group’s revenue.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by 1.6% from HK$130.6 million in 2015
to HK$132.7 million in 2016. The growth in revenue was mainly contributed
from below factors:

(i A major project for providing millwork and furniture to a department
store in London of HK$12.1 million and more projects engaged by one
of our major clients during 2016;

(i)  The increase was partially offset by the decrease in revenue generated
from interior solutions and local economic downturn.

The Group generated revenue principally from providing four major
categories of interior design services, including: (i) millwork and furniture
provision, (i) facade development and fabrication, (iii) interior solutions and
(iv) design and project consultancy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2016, the aggregate revenue derived from the five largest brands was
approximately HK$107.2 million (80.8% of total revenue) as compared to
that of approximately HK$101.8 million (77.9% of total revenue) in 2015.

Direct cost

The direct cost of the Group primarily consists of costs of material and
subcontracting. Direct cost decreased by 1.2% from HK$86.4 million in 2015
to HK$85.4 million in 2016, representing approximately 66.2% and 64.4%
to the revenue of the Group in 2015 and 2016 respectively. The drop in
percentage of direct cost to revenue was mainly due to the improvement of
production methodology, creative use of cost effective materials and
economy of scales as a results from bulk purchase of materials.

Gross profit and gross margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by 7.0% from HK$44.2 million in 2015 to
HK$47.3 million in 2016. The gross profit margin increased by approximately
1.8% to approximately 35.6% in 2016 (2015: 33.8%). This increase was
mainly due to the lower direct cost as mentioned above.

Profit for the year

For the financial year ended 30 June 2016, profit for the year decreased by
51.7% from HK$23.8 million in 2015 to HK$11.5 million in 2016. The
decrease in profit for the year was mainly due to the one-off and non-
recurrent listing expenses which represents the portion that is charged to profit
or loss upon listing, which is approximately HK$11.2 million and the increase
in administrative expense of HK$4.3 million in 2016.

Other Income

The Group recorded other income of HK$6,000 for the financial year ended
30 June 2016 (2015: HK$4,000), which mainly consists of bank interest
income.

Other gains

Other gains was HK$125,000 and HK$44,000 for the years ended 30 June
2016 and 2015 respectively. Other gains consists of gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly consists of employee benefit expenses, rental
and utilities, marketing and advertisement, entertainment, legal and
professional fees, depreciation, bad debt and transportation and travelling
expenses. For the financial year ended 30 June 2016, administrative expenses
increased by 27.6% from HK$15.6 million in 2015 to HK$19.9 million,
mainly due to the (i) increase in employee benefits of approximately HK$4.6
million; (ii) increase in rental and utilities of approximately HK$0.4 million
(additional leasing of an office unit from January 2016 with a 3 months’ rent
free period); and (iii) increase in marketing and entertainment of
approximately HK$1.0 million. The total increase was partially off-set by the
(i) decrease in transportation and travelling of approximately HK$0.7 million
and (i) account receivable written off of approximately HK$1.0 million.

Listing expenses

For the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Group recorded listing
expenses of approximately HK$11.2 million, in connection with the
preparation for the Listing (2015: Nil).

Finance costs
For the year ended 30 June 2016, the Group did not record any finance costs
(2015: HK$3,000).

Income tax expense
The income tax expense of the Group decreased by 1.3% from
HK$4,849,000 in 2015 to HK$4,785,000 in 2016.

The amount of income tax expense represents current tax paid and/or payable
for Hong Kong profits tax, overseas profits tax and deferred tax expense. In
2016, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2015:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the
financial year.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the rates
applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group derived cash inflow from operating activities primarily through
provision of services including millwork and furniture provision, facade
development and fabrication, interior solutions and design and project
consultancy. Cash outflow from operating activities primarily comprises direct
cost, administrative expenses, employee benefit expenses and other operating
expenses. Our net cash from operating activities reflects our profit or loss
before income tax, as adjusted for non-cash items, such as depreciation of
property, plant and equipment and the effects of changes in working capital
items.

As at 30 June 2016, the cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
HK$11.2 million (2015: HK$30.0 million) which were mainly denominated
in HKD, RMB and USD. The Group did not have any bank borrowings in
2016 and 2015. There was no change to the Group’s capital structure since
the Listing and up to the date of this report. In light of the current financial
position of the Group and provided there is no unforeseeable circumstance,
the management does not anticipate the need to change the capital structure.
As at 30 June 2016, the Group has a bank facility of HK$20.0 million with
Hang Seng Bank that had not been utilized and was available for drawdown.
The Board is of the opinion that the Group is in a strong and healthy financial
position and has sufficient resources to support its operations and meet its
foreseeable capital expenditures.

Borrowings and gearing ratio

No bank borrowings was recorded as of 30 June 2016 (2015: Nil). As at 30
June 2016, the gearing ratio of the Group as determined by interest-bearing
borrowings divided by total capital was nil (2015: Nil).

Charge on Assets
As at 30 June 2016, no assets of the Group were pledged to secure its loans
and banking facilities (2015: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 June 2016, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities (2015:
Nil).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS ON
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investment held as at 30 June 2016
nor the Group has any plans for material investments on capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS

Save as the Reorganization as disclosed in the Prospectus during the year
ended 30 June 2016, the Group did not have any material acquisition and
disposal.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 22 August 2016. The
Company has not granted any share options up to the date of this report. The
Company does not have any present intention to issue any of the authorized
but unissued share capital of the Company and, without prior approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting, no issue of Shares will be made which
would effectively alter the control of the Company.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES'
REMUNERATION

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had 28 employees (2015: 19 employees).
Total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately
HK$13.5 million, as compared to approximately HK$8.9 million for the year
ended 30 June 2015. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
qualifications, performance, experience and prevailing industry practice.
Competitive remuneration package is offered to retain elite employees
including salaries, medical insurance, discretionary bonuses as well as
mandatory provident fund schemes for employees in Hong Kong.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Other than operating lease commitments, the Group has no capital
commitment as at 30 June 2016 (2015: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign exchange
exposure. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of operation to which they relate.

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of USD, RMB and Euros
(“EUR”). The management is aware of the possible exchange rate exposure
due to the continuing fluctuation of RMB and EUR and will closely monitor
its impact on the performance of the Group to see if any hedging policy is
necessary.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
SHARE OFFER

The net proceeds from the share offer amounted to approximately HK$64.6
million, the Group will utilize such proceeds from the share offer for the
purposes consistent with those set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. In the event that the Directors decide
to use such net proceeds in a manner different from that stated in the
Prospectus, the Company will issue further announcement in compliance
with the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has been in compliance
with the CG Code since the Listing Date. The key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company are outlined later in this annual
report.

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange with effect from the Listing
Date. As the Company was not a listed company during the year ended 30
June 2016, the CG Code was not applicable to it during the year under
review. The CG Code has been applicable to the Company with effect from
the Listing Date. Save as the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code in relation to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer being the
same individual as described below, the Board considers that the Company
has fully complied with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report
(the “Period Under Review”).

The Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established four Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee, (together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven members,
consisting of four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

The profile of the Directors are set out on pages 6 to 10 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in the profile of the Directors that Mr. Lee is a brother-in-
law of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, the Board members do not have any family,
financial or business relationship among themselves.

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has been in compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the board.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors on his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive officer be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Chairman is responsible for the overall leadership and
strategic planning of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and operations.

Mr. Lee assumes the roles of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer. In view of Mr. Lee’s extensive experience in the industry, personal
profile and critical role in the Group and its historical development, the Board
considers that it is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group that Mr.
Lee continues to act as both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Board believes that vesting both the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of providing a strong and
consistent leadership to the Group and allows for more effective planning and
management of the Group. In addition, the Board is of the view that the
balanced composition of executive and independent non-executive Directors
on the Board and the various committees of the Board (primarily comprising
independent non-executive Directors) in overseeing different aspects of the
Company’s affairs would provide adequate safeguards to ensure a balance of
power and authority. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer at a time when it is
appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole.

Board Meeting

The Board intends to hold board meetings regularly at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and propose matters to be discussed in the meeting
agenda.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying documents are dispatched
to the Directors or Board Committee members at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the documents and
be adequately prepared for the meetings.
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When Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting.
Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are/will be
recorded in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board
and the Board committee and the decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board
committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.

Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings

Attendance of each Director at all the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings held during the Period Under Review is set out as follows. No
general meeting has been held by the Company during the Period Under
Review.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee has three members, all are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Lau Lap Yan John and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen
Franklin. Mr. So Chi Hang has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee. Mr. So Chi Hang possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications required under the Listing Rules.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control systems of the
Group and make recommendations to the Board of the appointment and
removal of the external auditors. The Audit Committee has access to
independent professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.

The Audit Committee held a meeting on 26 September 2016, with all
members present in person or through telephone communication, during
which the following works were performed:

e Assess the independence of the Company’s auditors.

J Discussion with the external auditors about the scope of work and fee
in respect of their audit work for the year ended 30 June 2016.

J Reviewed the Group's financial results for the year ended 30 June
2016, significant issues on financial reporting and internal control and
appointment of external auditors.

J Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the
Period Under Review.

The attendance of the Audit Committee members at the above meeting is set
out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 August 2016
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has three members, two of them are independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen
Franklin, and one of them is an executive Director, namely, Mr. Lee Wai
Sang. Mr. So Chi Hang, the Company’s independent non-executive Director,
has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee has access to independent professional advice, if
required, and is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine the
policies in relation to human resources management, to review the
Company’s remuneration policies and to determine remuneration packages
for Directors and senior management members of the Company.

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experience and responsibilities with the Group and the general
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages of the Directors and the members of senior
management.

Remuneration Committee held a meeting on 28 September 2016 with all
members present in person or through telephone communication. The
meeting was held to discuss and review of the existing structure of the
remuneration for the Directors.

The attendance of the Remuneration Committee members at the above
meeting is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings”.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 August 2016
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee consists of three members, one of them is an
executive Director, namely Mr. Lee Wai Sang, and two of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr.
Heng Ching Kuen Franklin. Mr. Lee Wai Sang has been appointed as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee has
access to professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the
Board. In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy
adopted by the Board on 22 August 2016, including but not limited to skills,
professional experience, educational background, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting on 28 September 2016 with all
members present in person or through telephone communication. The
meeting was held to discuss and review the composition and structure of the
Board. The executive Directors were appointed based on their qualification
and experience in relation to the Group’s business. The independent non-
executive Directors were appointed based on their professional qualifications
and experience in their respective areas.

The attendance of the Nomination Committee members at the above meeting
is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board
Committee Meetings”.

Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Risk Management Committee consists of three members, one of them is an
executive Director, namely Mr. Lau King Lok, and two of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin
and Mr. So Chi Hang. Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin has been appointed as
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee. The Risk Management
Committee has access to professional advice, if required, and is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to review the
Company’s risk management policies and standards and to monitor the
Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks.
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The Risk Management Committee held a meeting on 28 September 2016
with all members present in person or through telephone communication.
The meeting was held to review the compliance by the Group with its
undertaking to the Stock Exchange, further details of which are set out below,
and to review, evaluate and confirm the effectiveness of the internal control
policies and procedures with respect to sanctions law matters.

The Company has undertaken to the Stock Exchange that it will comply with
certain undertakings (the “Undertaking”) in relation to the use of proceeds
from the share offer to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities or
business with, or for the benefit of, any countries (“Sanctioned Countries”)
which are the targets of economic sanctions as administered by the United
States of America (“U.S.”), the European Union (“EU”), the United Nations
and Australia or certain persons and entities listed on the Specially Designated
Nationals and Blocked Person List of the United States Department of
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) or other restricted parties
lists maintained by the EU, the United Nations or Australia, including, without
limitation, any government, individual or entity that is the subject of any
OFAC-administered sanctions (collectively, “International Sanctions”).

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Board had developed its system on
evaluating the sanctions risks prior to determining whether the Company
should embark on any business opportunities in the Sanctioned Countries
and with Sanctioned Persons. Under the system, advices from reputable
external international legal counsels with necessary expertise and experience
in matters relating to sanction-related laws and regulations issued by the U.S.,
the EU, Australia or the United Nations would be seek if the Company
encounter any possible sanctions risk. During the Period Under Review, the
Risk Management Committee had conducted a review of the system’s
effectiveness in preventing any prohibited or otherwise restricted sales to
Sanctioned Countries and Sanctioned Persons.

The attendance of the Risk Management Committee members at the above
meeting is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings”.

Term of Appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Lau
Lap Yan John and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, have been appointed for a
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either
party on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles of
Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set
out in the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service agreement which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement, re-election
and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board structure, size
and composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

Nomination, Appointment, Retirement and Re-Election of
Directors

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election and reappointment at each
annual general meeting provided that each Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any new Director so
appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting. Any new Director so appointed as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s
senior management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Group or the Company’s
securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Period Under Review. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the
senior management of the Group up to the date of annual report.

DIRECTORS” CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. All Directors
are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their
duties with care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of the
Group. All Board members received an induction package covering the
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The Company also
plans to provide briefings and other training to develop and refresh the
Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory and statutory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

On 18 February 2016, the Hong Kong legal advisor to the Company
conducted a training in relation to the duties and ongoing obligations of
directors of listed companies to the Directors and members of senior
management of the Company.

Directors and Senior Management Emoluments

For the year ended 30 June 2016, the emoluments of the Directors and
members of the senior management within the following bands were as
follows:
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Emoluments Band
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HE_Z—F

AA=TBLEFE

HK$1,000,000 and below 1,000,000 8T RAA T 5
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /87T - 1,500,000 75 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T - 2,000,000 7T 0
HK$2,000,001 and above 2,000,001 7T R £ 1
7
Further details of the remuneration of Directors and five highest paid ~ BHEZRALSEHFALHE 2 &~ FFEARTHAEM
individuals have been set out in notes 11 to the Financial Statements. e
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Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to BDO Limited is set out
below:

Rt RTs

Services Rendered

REMHE
BREAIRNUERFREHMEHMERAANH AN
BT -

Fee paid/payable
for the year ended
30 June 2016
HE-ZT—RF
ANAZTRLFE
BN/ EHER
HK$’000

(F%&7L)

Annual audit service for the year ended 30 June 2016

HEZZRERAZTELFEZERE

Bat R 300
Audit and reporting accountant services relating to ARF ETERE R R RE RS
the Listing of the Company 1,495
Other non-audit services* H i Jemat iR« 50
Total Fo 1,845
* Other non-audiit services primarily relate to advisory services on tax payable to  * B EARELERENFRRHEBEEARAANERE

BDO Tax Limited.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting in respect of the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare accounts
of the Group and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and the Company’s management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make informed assessments of the financial and
other decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company in respect of its reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2016 is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in this
annual report.

Insurance on Directors” and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify the
Directors and the senior management of the Company. The insurance
coverage is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.
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Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board to maintain
an adequate internal control system to safeguard shareholder investments and
Company assets. The internal control system and procedures of the Company
are designed to meet its specific business needs and to minimize its risk
exposure, to monitor and reduce the impact of risks which are relevant to its
business and control its daily business operations. The system can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatement or losses.

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Board has adopted the following
measures:

—  the Company has engaged an internal control consultant to perform
internal controls review in connection with its internal control policies;

—  the Company has improved the existing internal control framework by
adopting a set of internal control manual and policies, which cover
corporate governance, risk management, operations and legal matters;

—  the Company will assess and monitor the implementation of its internal
control manual and policies by the relevant departments and
companies in the Group through regular audits and inspections; and

—  the Company will provide internal training to staff as appropriate in
order to enable them to follow the internal control and corporate
governance procedures.

As the Company’s business continues to expand, the Company will
continuously monitor and improve its management procedures to ensure that
effective operation of those internal controls are in line with the growth of its
business and good corporate governance policies.

Training for Company Secretary

The Board is of the view that Mr. Lau King Lok (“Mr. Lau”), the Company
Secretary and also an executive Director, is qualified and has appropriate
experience to discharge his duties. Mr. Lau had received not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 30 June 2016.
The Company will provide Mr. Lau with sufficient resources to receive not
less than 15 hours of professional training for every financial year as required
by the rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders
Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”) to be called by the Board. The written requisition must specify the
business to be transacted on the meeting, which shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails
to proceed to convene an EGM, the shareholder(s) concerned may
themselves convene an EGM, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
shareholder(s) making the requisition as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to such shareholder(s) by the Company.

Save for the procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM as set out
above, there are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals
at the general meeting under the Articles of Association. Shareholders may
follow the procedures set out above to convene an EGM for any business
specified in such written requisition. The written requisition must state the
objects of the meeting, and must be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and
deposited to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong, Room 1505, 625 King’s Road, North Point, Hong
Kong.

Procedures for directing shareholders” enquiries to the Board

Shareholder(s) may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the Company Secretary by post at Room 1505, 625
King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong, or via email at the contact information
as provided on the website of the Company.

The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholder(s)” enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant board committees of the Company,
where appropriate, to respond to the shareholder(s)” questions.
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Investor Relations

The Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play a vital
role in creating Shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate transparency as
well as establishing market confidence. The Company discloses information
in compliance with the Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure information
disclosure is timely, fair, accurate and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions. Updated key information and business development of the Group
are also available on the Company’s website to enable Shareholders and
investors to have timely access to information about the Group.

The Company also endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through general meetings which provides a
forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board. Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available at the
annual general meetings of the Company to address Shareholders’ queries.

The Company will continue to take measures to ensure effective
Shareholders’ communication and transparency.

There has been no change in the Articles of Association since the Listing Date
and up to date version of the Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2016 (“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and
provision of interior design, project consultancy and interior solutions
services. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company
are set out in note 15 to the Financial Statements. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Year.

GROUP REORGANIZATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 March 2016 as
an exempted company with limited liability and was registered as a non-
Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622
(Laws of Hong Kong) on 13 June 2016. In preparation for the Listing of the
Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Group underwent the
Reorganization pursuant to which the Company has become the holding
Company of the companies now comprising the Group on 22 March 2016.
For details of the Reorganization, please refer the paragraph headed “History
and Reorganization” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 12 September 2016, the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 600,000,000 ordinary shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at HK$0.15 per Share. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the share offer of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$64.6 million. Since the Listing Date, the
Company has not used any net proceeds raised from the share offer of the
Company up to the date of this annual report. Such net proceeds are intended
to be applied in accordance with the proposed applications as set out in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement”and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report respectively. These discussions form part of this Directors’
report. Significant events that have an effect on the Group subsequent to the
Year are set out in note 32 to the Financial Statements.

Key Risks and Uncertainties
The following highlights some of the key risks affect the Group’s business:

J The Group’s business is project-based. The types of projects we carry
out will vary and, in turn, our revenue mix may vary from time to time.
Fee collection and profit margin depend on the terms of the quotation
and may not be regular;

o The duration of our projects varies and our clients do not have long
term commitments with us;

o We depend on our suppliers and contractors to complete our projects
and to implement measures or procedures during the execution of our
projects;

e Our success is dependent on the retention of key management
personnel;

J We could be adversely affected as a result of our operations in certain
countries that are subject to evolving economic sanctions of the U.S.,
the United Nations, the EU, Australia and other relevant sanctions
authorities;

J Our business is dependent on the luxury goods sector and global
economic conditions; and

. Luxury brands may reduce reliance on physical stores.

Please refer to the section headed “RISK FACTORS” for details of risks and
uncertainties in the Prospectus.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully understands that employees, clients, suppliers and sub-
contractors are the key to our sustainable and stable development. The Group
is committed to establishing a close relationship with its employees,
enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and sub-contractors and providing
high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure the Group’s sustainable
development.

(a)

036

Employees

Human resources and talents are vital to the creative business of the
Group. The Group offers a comprehensive range and attractive
remuneration package, insurance benefits, training opportunities and
clear career path with promotion opportunities to its employees. The
Group also continues to improve and regularly review and update its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational safety
and health. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees and the turnover rate is low.

Clients

The majority of the Group’s clients are global luxury goods and high-
end fashion brands with retail boutiques across the world. It is the
Group’s mission to satisfy different clients’ needs. The Group has
established business relationships with its five largest clients for an
average of over five years.

The Group has also established procedures in handling clients feedback
and complaints to ensure that clients’ opinions are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner.

Suppliers and Sub-contractors

The Group generally do not enter into long term contracts with its
suppliers and its orders are placed on an as-needed basis depending on
the project schedule. The Group has established a long term and stable
relationships with its five largest suppliers and sub-contractors for over
six years on average. Over the years, the Group has been working
closely with them and have maintained good relationships.

In order to have a better and close monitoring of suppliers’
performance, the Group’s management regularly conducts
performance reviews targeting the Group’s major suppliers and sub-
contractors and communicates with them for rectification and
improvements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives to
minimize its environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group believes that it is
essential for it to be as environmentally responsible as possible in the
execution of its projects. The fit-out construction services provided by its sub-
contractors in Hong Kong are subject to certain laws and regulations relating
to environmental protection.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
with projects located in various locations such as Hong Kong, Asia (excluding
Hong Kong and PRC), Europe and the Middle East. The Group’s establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with all applicable laws in the
jurisdictions where it has operations. To the best of the Directors” knowledge,
information and belief on the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the financial statements on
page 51 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the Year, together with summary of the financial results and of
the assets and liabilities of the Group for the three years ended 30 June 2015
is set out on page 110 of this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the Year are set out in note 16 to the Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are set
out in note 24 to the Financial Statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in
note 25 to the Financial Statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to applicable statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands, the
Company had no reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders as at
30 June 2016.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is
incorporated.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
September 2016. Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities from the Listing Date
to the date of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue derived from the Group's five largest clients
accounted for 49.7% of the total revenue of the Group for the Year and
revenue derived from the largest client for the Year amounted to HK$16.5
million for the Year, representing approximately 12.4% of the Group's total
revenue. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
56.9% of the total cost for the Year and purchase from the largest supplier for
the Year amounted to HK$25.2 million for the Year, representing
approximately 29.5% of the Group's total direct cost.

One of the five largest suppliers was Max Contracting Limited (“Max
Contracting”) in which Mr. Lee is interested in approximately 33.33%
shareholding. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had a
material interest in the five largest clients or five largest suppliers of the Group
during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman

appointed on 18 March 2016
appointed on 18 March 2016
appointed on 18 March 2016
appointed on 18 March 2016

—~ o~~~

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

(appointed on 22 August 2016)
(appointed on 22 August 2016)
(appointed on 22 August 2016)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lau King
Lok, Mr. Leung Pak Yin and Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against it Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their
respective offices; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Details of the Directors’ profiles are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors emoluments are set out in note 11 to the Financial
Statements of this annual report.

No Director has waiver or has agreed to waive any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during
the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either
party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been by way of a letter
of appointment appointed for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations, the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with
rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for transaction as disclose in the section headed “Non-Exempt
Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangements or contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or his connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance had been
entered into between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and the
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, and underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:

Long position:
The Company/

Name of associated
corporation

Capacity/

Name of Director Nature of interest

BSih LNV S N A 51p/ HEsitE

558

HE

EERTETRABEAD TS EAR S
E)’g;ﬂﬁﬁ - HBERORESRESNER
RE

RAFERAL  AAREEREBABABEARRD A ERH
FE(TERBEARBERAZXVE) MG - BEBRNRE
FPERRERADAREEF R ERAE 2 KRTETE
mEZMnEakAe - IREEETAME AN RERA
M@ RARIT -

#R

Name and
class of shares held/

interested in the Company/ Percentage of

associated corporation shareholding
NGV e
ftn B ARSI AN

Mr. Lee (Note) The Company Interest in a controlled
corporation and
interest of spouse

FREHR) LN R AR MBS

CGH (BVI) Beneficial owner and
interest of spouse
CGH (BV) EaiA A\ REBER

1,800,000,000 Shares 75%

1,800,000,000 B 1 75%

100 ordinary shares 100%
of US$1

100/ 1 2Lk 100%

Note: Such Shares were registered in the name of CGH (BVI), a company owned as to
50% and 50% by Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV
of the SFO, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by CGH
(BVI). Besicles, Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of
Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested. Each of Mr. Lee and M.
Leung is a director of CGH (BVI). Mr. Lee is also deemed to be interested in the
shares of CGH (BVI) held by Ms. Leung.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none of the
Directors and/or chief executives of the Company nor their associates had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which each of them has
taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or which would be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to
be kept therein or which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Wizt : ZERGLHCGH (BVI) £ 2B - CGH (BVI) 2 — BB EL %
REX+EBHEB50%HERHAA] - RIEFZEFRHE KD
EXVEREX - FELERRAEECGH BV FTEG LR
G2z - WO FHREBRLLIHENG - REZEFRGEK
BIEXVEIEX - FHERBAREL L BEAEGERN
1BEIZ B R FHEE B o FHAERELTEEACGH BVI)
BF o TR AENREBRELLHECGH BV T BEIRG F

BLaMBEEEN  RAFHRAH  ARAESR/ITHE
HEEENOBEARERNAR AR EAMEREZE (TERE
HREBERGIZE XV ) Bk - BERD Ws?&@f?&ﬁﬂ&ﬁ
ERERREESRIEKNEXVEET ReDBAEAR
LR F mk e (AREREESF LS 1'»:15%&”“1?&@
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Directors and
the senior management of the Company, the table below listed out the
persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company), who
had interests in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to provision of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long position:

Capacity/
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest
BRAHE 515/ attE

RAFHEH  HARRAEERRSREREMRA  TREF
WNARRRG RABBR DD EERIEE S LBE DI XV
FLREIDBEXAARRARERCEN AR BRIEE S
RERHAIXVEE 336 FRTFENES BT EROA
T(PERERRAEERIRITHAR)WT :

g i
Number of Shares held/  Percentage of
interested in shareholding
#E/ BAERNRHEE RRADH

CGH (BVI) Beneficial Owner

CGH (BV) EEEEA

Ms. Leung Interest in a controlled corporation
and interest of spouse

Rt R AE RS N B

1,800,000,000 75%
(Note)
1,800,000,000 (Af#) 75%
1,800,000,000 75%
(Note)
1,800,000,000 (Af#) 75%

Note: Such Shares were registered in the name of CGH (BVI), which is owned as to
50% and 50% by each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of
Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by CGH (BVI). Besides, Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee. By virtue of the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the Directors and
the senior management of the Company are not aware of any other person
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the Company or
its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or the chief executives of the Company
or their associates to acquire benefits by means of acquisitions of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2016, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to the regulations under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective during the
period commencing on 12 September 2016 and ending on 11 September
2026, being the date falling ten years from the date on which the Share
Option Scheme became unconditional. The Share Option Scheme has a
remaining term of approximately ten years as at the date of this annual report.
A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(1) The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees, to attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group, to provide additional incentive or rewards to employees (full
time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, contractors,
suppliers, customers and shareholders of the Group.

(2)  The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may
think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director,
contractor, supplier, consultant, advisor, customer or shareholder of the
Group options to subscribe for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option shall
be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of his
contribution or potential contribution to the development and growth
of the Group.

(3)  An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 7 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an option is HK$10.

(4)  Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of
grant of the share options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of a share
option before it can be exercised.

(5)  The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at
least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant of the option.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(@)

subject to sub-paragraph 6(b) and 6(c) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
Shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been
granted but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of
our Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the
Shares in issue, being 2,400,000,000 Shares as at the Listing Date
(the “General Scheme Limit”). Based on the number of Shares in
issue on the Listing Date, the General Scheme Limit of the Share
Option Scheme is 240,000,000 Shares.

The General Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of our
Company) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed 10% limit.

The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting for granting options beyond the General Scheme
Limit provided the options in excess of the General Scheme Limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by our
Company before such approval is sought.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company if this will result in such 30% limit
being exceeded.
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(7)  The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must be
separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such
grantee and his associates abstaining from voting.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof.

No options under the Share Option Scheme had been granted since its
adoption. As such, the total number of Shares available for issue upon
exercise of the share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
was 240,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in note 26 to the Financial Statements.

Upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 12 September 2016,
certain related party transactions set out in note 26 to the Financial Statements
are regarded as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Group. Save for those as disclosed below, none of which is required to
be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Given that Mr. Lee is an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Lee and his associates are “connected persons” of the Company under
Rules 14A 07(1) and (4) of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group has carried out the following
continuing connected transactions (other than the continuing connected
transactions that are fully exempted under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules)
with Mr. Lee’s associates during the Year:

1. Max Contracting Framework Agreement

On 22 August 2016, the Company as purchaser entered into a
framework agreement (“Max Contracting Framework Agreement”) with
Max Contracting as supplier for a term commencing from 12
September 2016 to 30 June 2018 whereby the Group shall purchase
furniture, fixture and woodwork from Max Contracting. The price for
woodwork, furniture and fixture to be supplied to the Company under
the Max Contracting Framework Agreement, has been and continue to
be determined by reference to the costs of materials plus a markup
within the range of 10% to 25% to be agreed on an arm’s length basis.
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As Max Contracting is owned as to approximately 33.3% by Mr. Lee.
Accordingly, Max Contracting is an associate of Mr. Lee, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

The annual cap for the transaction amount with Max Contracting under
the Max Contracting Framework Agreement for the year ended 30 June
2016 is HK$6.5 million. For the year ended 30 June 2016, the actual
transaction amount paid/payable to Max Contracting amounted to
approximately HK$4.1 million.

2. Max Furniture Framework Agreement

On 22 August 2016, the Company as purchaser entered into a
framework agreement (the “Max Furniture Framework Agreement”)
with Max Furniture Shenzhen Company Limited (72 AR B (FYI) B
R 2 7]) (“Max Furniture”) as supplier for a term commencing from 12
September 2016 to 30 June 2018 whereby the Group shall purchase
woodwork from Max Furniture. The price of woodwork to be supplied
to the Company under the Max Furniture Framework Agreement has
been and continue to be determined by reference to the costs of
materials plus a markup within the range of 10% to 25% to be agreed
on an arm’s length basis.

As Max Furniture is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Max Contracting and
Max Contracting is in turn owned as to approximately 33.3% by Mr.
Lee. Accordingly, Max Furniture is an associate of Mr. Lee, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

The annual cap for the transaction amount with Max Furniture under
the Max Furniture Framework Agreement for the year ended 30 June
2016 is HK$1.5 million. For the year ended 30 June 2016, the actual
transaction amount paid/payable to Max Furniture amounted to
approximately HK$0.6 million.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

As the transactions contemplated under the Max Contracting Framework
Agreement and the Max Furniture Framework Agreement were and will be
carried out on a continuing basis and will extend over a period of time, the
Directors consider that strict compliance with the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules
would be impractical, unduly burdensome and would impose unnecessary
administrative costs on the Company. Accordingly, pursuant to Rule 14A.105
of the Listing Rules, the Group has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements as may otherwise be
required under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Max
Contracting Framework Agreement and the Max Furniture Framework
Agreement and all transactions contemplated under them.
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Annual Review of Continuing Connected Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that
for the year ended 30 June 2016, the continuing connected transactions as set
out above have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3)  in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hog Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company
has provided a copy of the auditor’s letter to the Stock Exchange as required
under Rule 14A.57 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules as at 28 September 2016, being the date
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company (as
defined under the Listing Rules) nor their respective associates were interested
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of the Controlling Shareholders have
entered into the deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in
favour of the Company on 22 August 2016 pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders irrevocably undertake to the Group that they will not and will
procure their close associates (except any member of the Group) not to,
directly or indirectly (whether in the capacity of principal or agent, whether
for its own benefit or jointly with or on behalf of any person, firm or company,
whether within or outside China), commence, engage in, participate in or
acquire any business which competes or may compete directly or indirectly
with the core business of the Group, being interior design business
(“Restricted Business”) or own any rights or interests in such business.
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Report of the Directors
SE9%E

Details of the Deed of Non-competition have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Relationship with our controlling shareholders — Non-competition
Undertaking” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the
Controlling Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance and that of
their respective close associates with the Deed of Non-competition since the
Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report. The independent non-
executive Directors, having reviewed the confirmations and the status of
compliance, were satisfied that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-
competition have been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders and
duly enforced since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance for
enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving the
interests of its Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted and
committed to the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and has prepared the corporate
governance report, which is set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report. The Board will continue to review
and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim to maintaining the
highest standard of corporate governance.

AUDITOR

The Shares were listed on Stock Exchange on 12 September 2016, and there
has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been audited by
BDO Limited, who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wai Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

|IBDO

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CROSSTEC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(ZEKEEZERBERATF)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Crosstec Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to 109, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

Auditor’s responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2016 and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ngai Hang

Practising Certificate Number P04743

Hong Kong, 28 September 2016
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Consolidated Financial Statements
SERBTRE

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  HA2EKHER
For the year ended 30 June 2016 2T ENAZTHIEE

HK$'000
TEL

132,719

(85,425)

6

125

(19,949)

(11,183)

PREEMERERLA
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Consolidated Financial Statements
SERKHRE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position SEMBRRE
As at 30 June 2016 R-E—NENA=+H

HK$'000
TEL

1,151

On behalf of the directors RERES
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
FERERE RAREE
Director Director
S S
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Consolidated Financial Statements
SERBTRE

Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity RERREBHR
For the year ended 30 June 2016 2T ENAZTHIEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
RARHEE AEE
Merger  Exchange Retained
Share Reserve reserve Profits
capital  (Note 25(i)) (Note 25(ii)) (Note 25(iii)) Total
Bl B 5 (4 REF
A (Patasm)  (Bskasan)  (BIEE25(G) gt

(1) Represent amount of less than HK$1,000. (1) FEMER 1,000 ETT 5

PREEMERERLA
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Consolidated Financial Statements
SERKHRE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows REBERER
For the year ended 30 June 2016 2T ENAZTHIEE

HK$'000
TiEL

16,293

16,675

(15,916)

5,282

(1,694)
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Consolidated Financial Statements
SERBTRE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) #H#ABREHRER(E)
For the year ended 30 June 2016 2T ENAZTHIEE

HK$'000
THET

(4,782)

(10,942)

(15,724)

(18,751)

(60)

30,046

PREEMERERLA
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Notes to Financial Statements
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General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 March
2016, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2004 revision) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at P.O. Box 1350, Clifton
House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is Room 1505, 625 King's Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 12
September 2016.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and provision of
interior design, project consultancy and interior solutions services (the
“Listing Business”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company is CGH (BVI) Limited, a
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands.
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2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(a)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group's financial statements, have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative'
Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 of Depreciations and Amortisation’
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets?
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments®
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®
Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers®

Amendments to
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16 Lease?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Except as described below, the directors anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will not have a
material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.
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2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

058

(a)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows (the business model test)
and that have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow characteristics
test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments
that meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test are
measured at FVTOCI if the objective of the entity’s business
model is both to hold and collect the contractual cash flows and
to sell the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable
election at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that
are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity
instruments are measured at FVTPL.

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all
financial assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred
loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge accounting
requirements to allow entities to better reflect their risk
management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS 39,
except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the
amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit
risk of the liabilities is recognised in other comprehensive income
unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

The directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 in the
future may have a material impact on amounts reported in
respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group undertakes a detailed
review.
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2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 2,

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition
framework. The core principle of the framework is that an entity
should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and related
interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to
revenue recognition:

8 (%)

CHEGEERER T/ BBITEBH
BIREER ()
BRBREERE 155 — KEEFANZ
Yozs

SIBET R Y — EE WS HERER o K
RrBEORAABEEARBREREERE
EATMERENEBREs S BRR RS
WL EEZSHRARETES - BAREB
RELRE15HBMRBAITREERIES (B
BEAQENE 185U  BAGHENR
TREERORAERE) o

EANBREENE SREIRADES TR

s

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer F—F BREEPMAILAH

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract F-F BRGHZENER

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price F=H BERHER

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to each performance F0F: HERFHERERENEL
obligation

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when each performance obligation FhY  RERVEETAERANE
is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken under
HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the qualitative
and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

The directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future may have a material impact on amounts reported and
disclosures made in the financial statements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
HKFRS 15 until the Group undertakes a detailed review.
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2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

060

(a)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 Lease

HKFRS 16 replaces all existing lease accounting requirements
and represents a significant change in the accounting and
reporting of leases, with more assets and liabilities to be reported
on the consolidated statement of financial position and a different
recognition of lease costs.

Application of HKFRS 16 will result in the Group’s recognition of
right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities in respect of
many of the Group’s lease arrangements. These assets and
liabilities are currently not required to be recognised but certain
relevant information is disclosed as commitments in Note 22 to
the financial statements.

As set out in Note 22, total operating lease commitment of the
Group in respect of office premises and office equipment as at
30 June 2016 amounted to approximately HK$4,142,000 (2015:
HK$1,276,000). The directors of the Company do not expect the
adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared with the current accounting
policy would result in significant impact on the Group's financial
performance but it is expected that the Group has to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liabilities and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use assets, and that certain
portion of the future minimum lease payments under the Group’s
operating leases will be required to be recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities. The Group will also be required to
remeasure the lease liabilities upon the occurrence of certain
events (e.g. a change in the lease term) and recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liabilities as an adjustment to
the right-of-use assets. In addition, payments for the principal
portion of the lease liabilities will be presented within financing
activities in the Group's consolidated cash flow statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

Companies Ordinance provisions relating to the
preparation of financial statements

The requirement of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) came into
operation during the financial year. The disclosure requirements
set out in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rule”) regarding annual accounts
have been amended with reference to the new Company
Ordinance (Cap. 622). As a result, there are changes to
presentation and disclosures of certain information in the
consolidated financial statements.

3. Group Reorganisation and Basis of
Presentation and Preparation

(a)

Group reorganisation

Pursuant to the group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”)
carried out by the Group in preparation for the listing of shares of
the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and for
the purpose of rationalising the Group’s structure, the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising
the Group on 22 March 2016. Details of the Reorganisation are
as set out in the section headed “History and Reorganisation —
Reorganisation” to the prospectus issued by the Company dated
30 August 2016.

Basis of presentation

The Reorganisation involved the combination of a number of
entities engaged in the Listing Business that were under common
control before and after the Reorganisation. The Group is
therefore regarded as a continuing entity resulting from the
Reorganisation, as there has been a continuation of the risks and
benefits to the ultimate controlling parties that existed prior to the
Reorganisation.
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062

Group Reorganisation and Basis of
Presentation and Preparation (continued)

(b)

Basis of presentation (continued)

Accordingly, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the years
ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 have been prepared using the
principles of merger accounting as if the current group structure
had been in existence throughout those years, or since their
respective dates of incorporation or establishment of the
combining companies, or since the date when the combining
companies first came under the common control, whichever was
shorter. The consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2015 have been prepared to present the
assets and liabilities of the companies now comprising the Group
at that date, as if the current group structure had been in
existence as at that date. The assets and liabilities of the Group
were combined using their carrying values. All significant intra-
group transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Listing
Rules.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousands, except when otherwise indicated. Each entity in the
Group maintains its books and records in its own functional
currency.
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Notes to Financial Statements

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the
effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

Other than business combination under common control for
which merger accounting method is used, acquisition of
subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred
are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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BB R M et

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

064

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss
on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the
subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in
the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share of
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is
attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (1) power over the investee;
(2) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee; and
(3) the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase
price and the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

L

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(o)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off
their cost net of expected residual value over their estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 25%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 30%

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated
recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets, or
where shorter, the terms of the relevant leases.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and
its carrying amount, and is recognised in the profit or loss on
disposal.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(i) Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are mainly classified as loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)

066

(i)

(ii)

“E-RFERE

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They arise principally through the
provision of goods and services to customers (trade
receivables), and also incorporate other types of
contractual monetary assets. Loans and receivables are
initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Subsequent to initial
recognition, they are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (as incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective
evidence of impairment may include:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor or the
group of debtors;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

— it becoming probable that the debtor or the group of
debtors will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
general credit period, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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Notes to Financial Statements

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of financial asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. When any part of financial asset is
determined to be uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables and
amount due to a director. They are initially recognised at
fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs
incurred, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
years. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group entities after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
a group entity are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)

068

(vi)

(vii)

“E-RFERE

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to the
financial asset expire or when the Group has transferred its
rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(e)

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts for variation orders, claims and incentive
payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in
revenue, and they are capable of being reliably measured.
Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific
contract and costs that are attributable to contract activity in
general and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a specific contract comprise site labour costs
(including site supervision); costs of subcontracting; costs of
materials used in construction; depreciation of equipment used
on the contract; costs of design, and technical assistance that is
directly related to the contract.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and contract costs associated with the
construction contract are recognised as revenue and expenses
respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract activity at the end of each reporting period.

The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably
when: (i) the total contract revenue can be measured reliably; (ii)
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
contract will flow to the entity; (iii) the costs to complete the
contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably;
and (iv) the contract costs attributable to the contract can be
clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual contract
costs incurred can be compared with prior estimates. When the
outcome of a construction cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that are
expected to be recoverable, and contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated
as an amount due from contract customers.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

070

)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in
which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at
the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

() Income from interior solutions projects is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the contracts, provide that
the stage of contract completion and the contract costs of
the contracting work can be measured reliably. The stage
of completion of a contract is established by reference to
the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs
(Note 4(e)).

(i)  Design and project consultancy service income is
recognised upon services rendered;

(i)~ Sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered
and the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the
customer;

(iv)  Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(h)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Except for recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items directly recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also directly recognised in
other comprehensive income.

® oo ¢ O OOO® [

BB R M At

4 ERSHHRBER(F

(h)

i ®i
RERMEREENAREREERE -

BB REBEEH OB KBE - 5LAf
GHRMEHERRK AN ZEBEH S
B RERSHRECHERBEE LEMEZHR

EHY -
EEREDR RS AN EERARY

FEE SRBARNARRE EREER
MER - RATFEGHAERRWEF 2 CHR
BEERARZI BABERERRDELTH
BRE- HETERUNR EREREHE
AENE  BERBEEED GHRR - BIER
BB RERREHEREE LERIEZH
ZREE RRANEHAEHESIEHEE
BRMEERREE

BAEETZHRDESZRNEE  BER
ZERTR BRI EREEIN - REBEHANH
BRRZREMELZERHERZRERZE
THEAG -

FEB N BETRR - RS HARNE
tEANEEXRAZARBER  EILER
T ZERANRE M2 HREERHER -

ZREEEMERARDA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

071



Notes to Financial Statements

BB R M et

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

072

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is shown
as a liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital and
interest. The interest element is charged to the profit or loss over
the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a
constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital element
reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are charged
to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of
the total rental expense, over the term of the lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(k)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of assets (other than inventories and financial
assets) to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when they
accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of reporting
period. Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

074

(continued)

() Employee benefits (continued)
(iii)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks which are not restricted as to use.

(n) Related parties
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(n) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or the Group's parent.

4 EXEHABRBEZ)

THEMEE - AEREAEE

(n) E¥E(E)
b WES
HE

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

FERAASERA-SED
WER AIBERAR  WER
ARFAZRBARRTERS) -

EA

EAR(REMRE AT
il
)

[
hai
i

[=] = G
A

[5)

oy
kol

ey
SEE

E‘/_\}M/'\ﬂ ,

I &3 3
p=g

i

I o ME FR
el
>

BB px 0>
xbf

ZEENKER

° e
mr
|
|
RS
M
=t
=
)

3
S

2 o

x oB
> i

eIl

ot 1
i
i)
i
>
ol

i
By
=
§ [
|

|1 o> |

\
L

nur
Xef

i
i
]33

e
s =

i 2
T

sor

i

FEERELRKEAR
BB

o =
=
;W I
)
Hao|
—=>H
b
=
e

¥

b m

%@ BFRBAMALE
AR -

i
0 MK

jEiis
=

ANEFFIMATHZE
Lﬁiﬁwaﬁ SEHEE
(RZEBENEAR)NERE
BEKE -

ZERAREBBET —HD0
MEBETEARKERFARA
SERAEESARRELE
EEABRE

SEEEERERAR 075

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited



Notes to Financial Statements

BB R M et

©c00000000000°

@
o
=

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

076

(n)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

Customer incentive programmes

The Group operates a incentive programme since September
2015 where a customer accumulated points for purchases made
at specific levels within designated periods which entitle them to
collect the discount vouchers for their future purchases. The
reward points are recognised as a separately identifiable
component of the initial sales transaction by allocating the fair
value of the consideration received between the award points
and the other components of the sale such that the reward points
are initially recognised as deferred income at their fair value.
Revenue from the reward points is recognised when the discount
vouchers are redeemed. Reward points accumulated within
designated periods expire 24 months after the points converted
to discount voucher.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estlmatlon ncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of each
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in
the assumptions when they occur.

(a)  Construction contract revenue recognition

Recognised amounts of construction contract revenue and
related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each
contract’s outcome and stage of completion, which are
determined on the basis of a number of estimates. This includes
the assessment of the profitability of on-going construction
contracts. For more complex contracts in particular, costs to
complete and contract profitability are subject to significant
estimation uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of
each reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

(b)  Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses of trade and other
receivables resulting from the inability of the customers and other
debtors to make the required payments in accordance with
accounting policy stated in Note 4(d)(ii). The Group bases the
estimates on the ageing of the receivable balances, debtors’
creditworthiness and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of the customers and debtors were to
deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
SourcesofEﬁmnann ncertainty (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

(c)  Recognition of deferred tax assets
The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is
based on an assessment of the probability of the Group’s future
taxable profit against which the deferred tax assets can be
utilised, which involves a number of assumptions and estimates
relating to the operating environment of the Group and requires
a significant level of judgement exercised by management. Any
change in such assumptions and judgement would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the profit in future periods.

Segment Information

Operating segments

The Group was principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture
and facade fabrication and provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interior solutions services. Information reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole, as the Group's resources are integrated
and no discrete operating segment financial information is available.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The following table sets out the information about the geographical
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and non-
current assets other than financial instruments (“Specified non-current
assets”).

The Group comprises the following main geographical segments:

Hong Kong (place of domicile) B ()

Asia (excluding Hong Kong and PRC) M (B KRR EIRRIM)
PRC i

Europe B

The Americas EM

ZE-REERE
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AEEREMTEIENESH

Revenue from external customers

REINBEP NS

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT
26,329 66,753
29,434 24,747
6,007 4,933
60,852 31,137
10,097 3,008
106,390 63,825
132,719 130,578
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6. Segment Information (continued) 6. AMER(E

Specified non-current assets
EEHRBEE

HK$'000
TR

1,150
1

Information about major customers TERFER
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or more of RER - REGEREEBUE10%IA ENEFPHOK
the Group's total revenue during the year is as follows: ST

HK$’000
TEL

16,491

14,854
14,035

*

* Less than 10% of the Group’s revenue * PRIEA Y 10%

Note: Vi

The total amount represents the sum of revenue attributed from the customers BEERFAREGAEBBEY10% TN LOFFEKE
that accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year EIRRD - B SET 08 FRATRE [*] Fiisz 28 o
and therefore this sum excluded the amount hidden in “*” disclosed in table

above.
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7. Revenue, Other Income and Other Gains 7. Wi HAWARHA s
Revenue includes the net invoiced value of goods sold, design and YR EAREHE R  RERH RIER BARS
project consultancy service rendered and contract revenue earned from JEEFBURENERATREEMENA NN -
the interior solutions projects by the Group. The amounts of each RERNDERZEZRRINRRSBEIWT
significant category of revenue recognised during the year are as
follows:

HK$'000
TiEL

88,636

22,869
19,426

1,788

132,719

An analysis of the Group’s other income and other gain recognised AEEREADERNEMBAREMiEm s
during the year is as follows: T

HK$'000
TiEL
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8. Finance Costs 8. REMAE

2016
HK$'000

TiEL

9. Profit Before Income Tax Expense 9. BRFTSHIBATRF

HK$'000
TR
300
510

1,299
37
1,077
13,466

10. Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 0. EERMRX (ERESHE)
Directors’ Remuneration)

HK$'000
THEL

12,002

323
1,141

PREEMERERLA
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11. Directors’ Remuneration and Senior 1. ESMEREREERESE

Management’s Emoluments

(i) Directors’ remuneration iy EBMe
Details of the directors’ remuneration paid or payable for the AEEETEERNEBE_T—R"ER_Z
years ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 by the entities comprising —RERNACTRLESERZEMHBARES
the Group to those employees and/or directors of subsidiaries R/SER(HER-_T-"F=AT/\BE
who were appointed as directors of the Company on 18 March ZARKRARER)ENAENEEHEFE
2016 are as follows: JANNE

Contribution to

defined
Salaries and contribution

Fees benefits  retirement plan Total
REMT

e FoRkEN  RIKEEIZ AR st

* Mr. Lau King Lok who joined the Group on 1 January 2016 was * IMEALE (R _E—NF-A—BMALK

appointed as director of the Company as at 18 March 2016. EF)R T FE=AT/\AEZAEL
RAEF -

Subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2016, Mr. So Chi Hang, REBEZT-—AFAA=ZTRILFER %

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin were Bid BUALERZEEREER TN

appointed as the independent non-executive directors of the FNAZT - BRZAERARABIINITE

Company on 22 August 2016. There were no fees or other EoRFABERNBIIRTESNNEY

emoluments payable to independent non-executive directors Higiis -

during the year.
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11. Directors’ Remuneration and Senior
Management’s Emoluments (continued)

(i)

Basic salaries, bonuses and other

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

During the current and prior years, none of the directors waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no
emoluments paid by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group included 4 directors (2015: 3) for the year
30 June 2016, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis as
shown above. The remuneration of the remaining highest paid
individuals is as follows:

EAHS A REMRR

allowances

Post-employment benefits — Contribution

to defined contribution retirement plan

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

RER R R — RUEHIRIRG B2

EEMEREAEERTS (&

(i)

ESMe(H)

REARBEFE  HEESHEIFAEAR
e  AAREYEREAEEA#HE
ERMATEBRMARE BE 2 REHRER
wiE-

RUBEEHMAL
BECR-R"EAAZTRHIEEARELL
RRFMALERNZER(Z2-0F: =
) BEZHFMEHR LXANT - BT &S
FHALZEHMMT :

2016 2015
HK$000 HK$’000
% TR
854 1,283

18 34

872 1,317

BEZHMHER TIIBER :

No. of employees

EEHE

2016 2015

Nil to HK$1,000,000

£% 1,000,000 7T

During the current and prior years, none of the five highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

1 2

RERRBEFE  RUSSHEMALHER
RYRBHEENNE  BASEYEALL
RRHMALINMEESMARKELIA
TEER 2 RRRBERAE -

SEEEZERERAA
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11. Directors’ Remuneration and Senior 1. EEMEREREREHS(E
Management’s Emoluments (continued)
(iii) Senior management’s emoluments excluding the (i) BREEE(EZHRM) 2ME
directors
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior MEREREKE (BERINEAREN 2B
management (excluding the directors) were within the following SEBRTHEER
bands:
No. of employees
BRHEA
Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T 3 1
One member of senior management whose emoluments are BREREZ-AKE(ZE—RF: —EK
included in five highest paid individuals as set out in Note 11 (i) S)MEMAME 11 ()t A FeHMAL
(2015: one member). e
12. Income Tax Expense 12. FEBAX
The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of BAEZANGRTHAEHATEHEE

comprehensive income represents:

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiER TET
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax BNEARIE — BB HEH
— tax for the year — REEHA 4,577 4,860
— over-provision in respect of prior years — BEEEERARE (15) -
Current tax — overseas profits tax EDERHIR — ZIMIETH
— tax for the year —AEERE 169 4
Deferred tax expense/(credit) (Note 23) BREBIRR %,/ (H40) (M3 23) 54 (15)
Income tax expense FrERiR% 4,785 4,849
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2015: EENGHERFARBEREENMTERTVENZ
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the 16.5% (ZF—FF 1 16.5%) O KEHREHE
year.
Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the BN B AR R ERTE N M IR R A R AR RN
rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions. BRAREE -

084 ZE-REERE
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12. FEHRX (%)

TERZMERAX ARG 2ERERARAS
BE SRR SRMT -

12. Income Tax Expense (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before income tax expense per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$/000
FET TAT
Profit before income tax BRFT/EHIAT A 16,293 28,632
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% RERRE16.5% (2T —1F : 16.5%) LB
(2015: 16.5%) 2,688 4,724
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMEEERCEHMB AR T RT R
operating in other jurisdictions nERE (92) 223
Tax effect of non-taxable income ERPAZHBHE 77) (186)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR 2 BT E 2,238 11
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERNBERE BT E 120 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not R BERERLHEBE
recognised - ©)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEREER (15) -
Others it (77) (15)
Income tax expense IS 4,785 4,849

13.

Dividends

For the year ended 30 June 2015, an interim dividend of HK$200 per
ordinary share, or in aggregation of HK$20,000,000 represented
interim dividends declared and paid by a subsidiary of the Company,
Crosstec Group Limited to its then shareholders prior to the completion
of the Reorganisation.

For the year ended 30 June 2016, an interim dividend of HK$110 per
ordinary share, or in aggregation of HK$11,000,000 represented
interim dividends declared and paid by Crosstec Group Limited to its
then shareholders prior to the completion of the Reorganisation.

For the year ended 30 June 2016, an interim dividend of approximately
HK$40 per ordinary share, or in aggregation of approximately
HK$1,000,000 represented interim dividends declared and paid by a
subsidiary of the Company, CX (Macau) Limited, to its then
shareholders prior to the completion of Reorganisation.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since its date
of incorporation.

13. RE

BEZZ-AE A=-THLEFE 8REHERK200
BT EA 20,000,000 702 HBRR B TR EA T
BIARRIZ —MEBAR (SBREAERAR)WEE
RRRE RS 2 RS o

BE-T-—ANENAZTHILEE SREER10
BT A 2£11,000,000/E T2 FERR S IR EAETH
HiZREEAERARINEEHRREIRNLL (T 2R
e -

HE-_Z- R EARZTHLER  SRIZERLD40
BELaA £491,000,0008 T2 FERE DR EB TR
BIAARZ—HBAR(BREECRRN) —AERAR)
MAEEERERESZSZHHBRE

RRRBHEMARL AR RE AR RARS -
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14. Earnings Per Share 14. BREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the ARAEBRESB AR ZBRERRNTIREA
ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the following data: TEEHE

HK$'000
TiEL

Number of shares

B A
2016

1,800,000
Note: Wis
Weighted average of 1,800,000,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June Hr —E-NER-E-RENA=1THILER T BRI
2016 and 2015, being the number of shares in issue immediately after the 1198 /51,800,000,000 /% (BN Z B8 F R £ W32 849
completion of capitalisation issue of shares as detailed in Note 32 to the financial BEANETROZRGEZERTRGEEE)EAEZ-F
statements, are deemed to have been issued throughout the year ended 30 June NERZF-RENA=THIEFERFEET -
2016 and 2015.
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15. Interests in Subsidiaries 15. REBRANESR
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: KRR ZMERRFENT :
Issued and fully
paid ordinary
Place and date of incorporation ~ Percentage of equity ~ share capital or Principal activities and
Name of entity and form of business structure  attributable to the Company  registered capital principal place of business Note
AR R AR EETRARETBK
BT EBRETA ARREGERERD  BRASKGEMRA TEEYREBEHHH izt

PREEMERERLA
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15. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued) 15. REEARKESR (Z
Issued and fully
paid ordinary
Place and date of incorporation  Percentage of equity ~ share capital or Principal activities and
Name of entity and form of business structure  attributable to the Company  registered capital principal place of business Note
AR % A E R BEITRAREBK
BEsh SBREA RRREEREE A R FREPREBERNE liF3
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment 16. %1% BERRE
Furniture Office Motor
and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
FERKE LN E @t

PREEMERERLA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited 089
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17. Amounts Due From/(To) Customers for 17. EBW/ (B EFAHNIRIE
Contract Work

HK$'000
TiEL

As at 30 June 2016, retentions held by customers for contract work RZZB-RERAZTH FIARKE S REMFE
included in trade and other receivables (Note 18) amounted to (M 18) 2 EPRANIRES ZRE 4 A786,000
HK$786,000 (2015: HK$1,640,000). BIL(ZZE—RF $1,640,000/87T) ©

As at 30 June 2016, advances received from customers for contract RIB-—RERNA=ZTH JIAENE S REMRIE
work included in trade and other payables (Note 21) amounted to (Ms21) 2B ERANTEMEZRFATEL(Z
HK$NIl (2015: HK$2,949,000). Z—FF :2,949,00087T)

090 rrciveport 2016
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18. Trade and Other Receivables 18. BEWEZREMEE

2016
HK$'000
FEL

27,276
786
623

5,678

HK$'000
THET

27,276

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group does not [EWE STET R B  REET AR L EHE
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these SRATAERRIFREMNEEERE -
balances.

Except for one customer with 60 days credit granted, no credit B—2EFERT60BROEEEN  AEEY
period is granted by the Group to its trade customers. Application ERHBESEPRTEEY - AFHEER
for progress payments of projects is made on a regular basis. FRE BEL

PREEMERERLA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited 0 9 1
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8. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

(@ (continued)
The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the invoice dates:

18. BWEZREMTUEE

(a)

(&)
ERE H70E Rk H i (REZHHZ5]) M
T

2016 2015

Less than 1 month iR —{EA

1 to 3 months —E={1A

3 months to 6 months =EAEA

More than 6 months but less than one year NEAR HERBBR—F
More than one year —FNE

Movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

HK$000 HK$'000
7 TR
15,738 4,646
2,483 4,468
6,533 388
2,522 -
- 454
27,276 9,956

EURESFERERBIZHMT :

2016 2015

092

At beginning of the year G20
Impairment losses recognised ERRRERR
Bad debts written off HsRRRR

At the end of the year FR

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
receivables for evidence of impairment on both an individual
and collective basis. As at 30 June 2016, the above impairment
of trade receivables of approximately HK$Nil (2015:
HK$965,000) was made for individually impaired trade
receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$Nil (2015: HK$965,000). These individually impaired trade
receivables included customers who ceased business relationship
with the Group and cannot be contracted by the Group.

ZE-REERE
Annual Report 2016

HK$'000 HK$/000
FEL T

- 965
- (965)

REREHR - AEBER R BERERR
BELRETS - R_T—~FRAZTH
ERERENERE S B (ERAENTE
TL(ZZ—FF 1 965,000/870)) fEH Ll fEY
BOFEREBENTEL(ZZ—HF : 965,000
BIL) - ZEERERENERE HFERER
AEER I EBBRAAERELHE IR o
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Notes to Financial Statements

18. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

(a)

(continued)
The ageing of trade receivables that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

BB R M At

- . b 4 2 & T a - = . Y ¥ © ¥ v B s - -
000000000 00 00000000000 @0 -

8. EWEZRAMRE(E)

(@ (&)
BRASREEANTEZERENEKE SR
EZERINT

2016 2015

Neither past due nor impaired

Less than 1 month past due

1 to 3 months past due

More than 3 months past due
but less than 12 months

More than one year past due

BRBHTRRE
TEd—EARS
—E=fEABH
BE=1a 88
B EBT A
Be—Fal

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to
customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management is of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the credit risk is minimal.

Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are
released after the completion of maintenance period of the
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in
the relevant contracts.

These related to customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

The above balances of other receivables, prepayments and
deposits as at 30 June 2016 and 2015 were neither past due nor
impaired. Financial assets included in these balances are non-
interest bearing and relate to receivables for which there was no
recent history of default.

HK$000 HK$'000
7 TR
561 _
15,200 4,646
2,483 4,468
9,032 388
- 454

27,276 9,956

BARBATRRE BRE 5HREY ETH
RREENEFER -

ERBERAEZEEESFRENTEEE
BEREAETRNEFAR - ERNBELSR
BEER RS RAGVEREL BEHRER
e HhERNEEEEYEERELBEAR
BEN -

(b) EFRANIRAMBIRESNABANRE
B RE SRR TR o

FEFRRT Y BERCENE AR -

(© RIZB-RERZZ-RFRA=TH Hft
YR - BNFERR SN ERARTIEER
BEMTARE - AEERERNEREENT
BRETHY B R ik RYGURERE -

SEEEZERERAA
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19. Amounts Due From/(To) A Director and 19. W/ () —2ESREELTR
Related Companies ]
An analysis of amounts due from a director and related companies is as R —ZEEREMARREZANNT -
follows:
Maximum
amount
Balance at outstanding Balance at
1 July 2015 during the year 30 June 2016
RZZE—h%F KERAER RZF-R%F
TA-BZEH EEeE  S~ASTHZEH

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THEL TR TER
25 25 -
Maximum
amount
Balance at outstanding Balance at
1July 2014 during the year 30 June 2015
R-T—mE RERAEER RZZ-1%
TA—-Bz#H Eme®  NASTBEz&ER

0 g 4 ;ngn;aTlifitﬁ 2016
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19. Amounts Due From/(To) A Director and

Related Companies (continued)

An analysis of amount due to a director is as follows:

19.

B/ () —BESREH A AR
B/ (&)

EN—REZREZAMIT -

2016 2015

Director
Mr. Sandi Lee

20.

Bz
FRERE

All the above related companies are beneficially owned by Mr. Sandi
Lee.

The amounts due from/(to) a director and related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts in respect of
the amounts due from a director and related companies, for which
there was no recent history of default.

None of the amounts due from a director and related companies is
either past due or impaired.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at banks and cash on hand
held by the Group. Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates and are deposited with creditworthy bank
with no recent history of default.

20.

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THT
- 3,699

FrIE LB AR MFREREBAHA -

/(B —RESREBARFENEER £
SHRREETENY

AEEYEREN - AEERER QA FAFELER
REREE  RAABIMERCE -

R HEE AR ARZAL EAIAE -

RERFEEED

B RFIRBOERTRRALETERE 2R
& - RTEHRES RRTERNENTBAE S
HEEER BRSO EERINES -

ZREEEMERARDA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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21. Trade and other Payables 21, BNEZRHMNE

2016
HK$'000
TiEL

17,712

1,995
14,914

(@  An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice dates @ ENESTEZEGEONREZEE)MT
is as follows:

HK$'000
TEL

8,561
5,959

2,340
368
484

The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and TEENENESFRRLNHE - BEEER
generally have payment terms of O to 90 days. BEROEIR -

(b)  Receipts in advance represented advance payment from the b BRFENEEPHRANIRRHEEMEZER
customers in connection with the contract works and sales. PE - BRFRBR RER R AEEERHRA
Receipts in advance are expected to be recognised as revenue of HEe—Fnz s -

the Group within one year from the reporting date.

(©  Other payables are non-interest bearing and have average © EtERFELHEETHERAA—E=
payment terms of one to three months. @A -
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22. Leases

The Group leased its office premises and office equipment under
operating lease arrangement which were negotiated for terms ranging
from one to four years.

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating lease are due as follows:

BB R M At

2. HE

FEERBLERSRHBRERAERRARE -
BHEEEA—ZNF -

o B 2 AR AR B R BB
RAT

2016 2015

B~
BB FETBREE

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

23. Deferred Tax

Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements during
the year are as follows:

HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR
1,707 903
2,435 373
4,142 1,276

23. EEHE
RAFE 7 BERRECHBABEREFFEMT :

Accelerated
depreciation

allowance

IERERHE
|

HK$'000

TEL

At 1July 2014 RZZE-MELA—A (64)

Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) ATAREERE (M 12) 15
At30 June 2015 R-F-RFRA=FH (49)
Charged to profit or loss for the year (Note 12) BAERERR AR (et 12) (54)
At 30 June 2016 RZZE—~F A=1H (103)

As at 30 June 2016, certain subsidiaries of the Group had estimated tax
losses arising in Hong Kong amounting to approximately HK$725,000
(2015: Nil), that are available indefinitely for offsetting against their
future taxable profits of those companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. Tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

AEBETHELAR -_T—AENA=ZTERERE
EEHHABEY 7250008 (ZF—hF )
ERAREREEEBBOZEDAMNRRERN
w2 e ARRAT AT ERBUE M A f AR EH

REER SUENASEREIRTHAEE -
EREAEREE -

ARAMERRE RS THFEFAEHER o

ZREEEMERARDA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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24. Share Capital 24, RA

The Company
YN

The share capital of the Group as at 30 June 2015 represented the RIB-REXA=ZTRAEENRABHBRRR
aggregate amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries and was AMGEEBUREREEANGHREE - RZ2—RF
transferred to merger reserve upon the Reorganisation. On 22 March, ZAZ+ZR EdmR Bl RCT-RERA
2016, the Reorganisation was completed, therefore the share capital =+ RAZBEBARADETRA -
presented as at 30 June 2016 represented the issued capital of the
Company.

25. Reserves 2. f#E
The Group BN
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for TEERERENR RESEREEZDERRTS
each reporting period are presented in the consolidated statement of REMZERREBHRNZS) o

changes in equity of the financial statements.

The nature and purpose of reserves within equity are as follows: BaNZREOEERANNT :

(i) Merger reserve i) BHEE
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference AEENAREERERNBATIMMK AR
between the investment costs in subsidiaries and the nominal FEEMBARERTRANKEEZ BNE
value of the issued share capital of the Group’s subsidiaries. o

(i) Exchange reserve (i)  EREE
It comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the ERRBEEEMERERIEBHBERRMAE
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. EZNEZE

(iii)  Retained profits (i) REREF
It represents cumulative net profits recognised in the consolidated REBMENGS2ERERERZ RFHEN
statement of comprehensive income. e
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25. Reserves (continued) 2. REE)
The Company AAH
Accumulated
losses
25 EE

26. Related Party Transactions 2. BELIRS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the BRGENBREAMESMBERARS REHBIN -
consolidated financial statements, during the reporting period, the RBERHE AEEERATHEES 2 EXRS

Group entered into the following significant transactions with its related
party as follows:

(i) (i

HK$'000
THET

@  Mr. Sandi Lee is a director of the company and has @ FEEEERZDAIZEEHNZLRA
approximately 33.3% beneficial interest in the company. BEH33.3% Btk

(b)  Mr. Sandi Lee has approximately 33.3% beneficial interest b  FEREFERZARERLNBI%ER
in the company. 1B e

(©  Mr. Sandi Lee is a director of the company and has © FEEEERZDAZEEHRZLA
controlling interest in the company. BEEER R -

PREEMERERLA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited 0 9 9
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26. Related Party Transactions (continued) 20. BBERS(E)

(i) (ii)

27. Holding Company Statement of Financial 27. BERARUBRRE
Position

”) Represent amount of less than HK$1,000. m FEER 1,000 T #9578
@ Investment in a subsidiary represents unlisted investment, measured at @ RE-FWBREIEA LRE (BHATE) o
cost.
On behalf of the directors RRBES
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
FRERE REAKE
Director Director
EF EF
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28. Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which comprise
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that
adequate resources are available to manage the above risks and to
create value for its shareholders. As the directors considers that the
Group's exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level, the
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments either for
hedging or trading purposes.

(@) Creditrisk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and
from amounts due from related parties and deposits with banks.

Management considered the credit risk is limited since the Group
trades only with customers with an appropriate credit history and
good reputation. The management monitored the financial
background and creditability of those trade debtors on an
ongoing basis.

Credit risk on other receivables is minimal as the Group performs
ongoing credit evaluation on the financial condition of its debtors
and tightly monitors the ageing of the receivable balances.
Follow up action is taken in case of overdue balances. In
addition, management reviews the recoverable amount of the
receivables individually and collectively at each reporting date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies have been followed
by the Group during the year and are considered to have been
effective in limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a
desirable level. None of the Group’s financial assets are secured
by collateral or other credit enhancements.

28.

BB R M At

BHEREE

FEREESENBER  BECEER  RBES
Ak - NEERREERR - AZANERAREE
HUBTNSBTB L T AT - BREHAEE
MBRRELBETAYERERE - SRR
RESHSER - DRRRE R AR -

AEERBREREENRE ARRETHERTHE
BrRAmERYAERRAEEE MR ESAREE
BEmfk s MBEERREEREAT B AEEYE
RERETRRNENIR AN ESBTA -

@ RFEAR
EERRABTF B TRETAREERIA
ARPANBARNEET M ERTBRK
AR ~EBERELLRY(TRARKE
SRR e Y BA R 77 SRB R R AT T T
EERR -

MR AREERABREGECHRRRHEE
MEFR S RUEREAREERBAR -
EEERERSAERIBBANTBES
ERRBR -

ARASEHEERANMBERRETHER
B Y BN ERER AR RE - HEME
BB EERREN - MEREMEAR  BIR
MBEITE - Woh - ERENEERA AR
R ARG R ERHRRNATRE SR - IR
RAFATRE S EELRERERSE - FEE
REN-ERAREEERR  ARDBER
E-ERWLRASENERERREEES
KE e AEENSREEMENERRIE D
EETTRIFER -

ZREEEMERARDA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

102

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on amounts due from related companies is limited
and not concentrated. The amounts due from related companies
have either sound financial position or financial support from
parent to provide sufficient financial resources to meet their
liabilities as they fall due and carry on their business without a
significant curtailment of operation. Thus, the credit risk on the
amounts due from related companies is minimal.

The Group’s major bank balances are deposited with banks with
good reputation and with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies and hence management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements in order to maintain
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major banks to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and long term. The liquidity policies have been
followed by the Group during the year and are considered to
have been effective in managing liquidity risk.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rates at the end of each reporting
period.

ZE-REERE
Annual Report 2016

28.

MRERERE (A

(a)

RERR(E)
EUREBARTENEERRERAT ST
BREMBEBARFEANS  ZEARERRR
METBERR KA DRI R M B B X
o ARZFRASRRRENENEEBR
BEZERXT MIGUEBEREARL -
Hite - EYEH A RFENEERBEN -

REENIERTEREINEERFLEE
REETRRBRERFERTRNRT &
ERERH T ERAERTROMEIER -

RBEESER

EERDETARIE  AEENHRAEH
ERERDESR L UERSARRSEE
ARREBRITRG e HRHEEURTERE
BREHARDESHR - AEERNFR—EE

PESER -

TRANFERFTECRABNHAE DT
HER - TROIRESBAENATRRLR
ERt ZECRABDALEEENTNR
FHEAE - FTESRABNIHARDER
FENEERH - TRERNEREAERER
E-WAEMNERRFDHE  ARMRSED
BEREMRIMENE -

oo © 0 O
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued) 28. MBEBER(E)
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) b REBESERE)

On demand Total

BER st

On 19 January 2016, the Group obtained a banking facility of RZZE-RE-RA+tNRB FEEERT
HK$20,000,000 which is secured by: (i) the unlimited personal 20,000,000 B TLEVSRTTRLE - ARE : (VA E
guarantees executed by substantial shareholders which will be ERFELHERAAER  ZEREN LT
released after the listing; and (ii) a charge over deposits at all BEE RiVAREARGREETORANTS
times not less than the amount ranged between nil and 215,000,000 F R (R FRITRBRIME
HK$15,000,000, which depends on the amount of drawdown of MiE) ML IEARSE

banking facilities.

PREEMERERLA
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(o)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances. The Group currently does not have
a policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank balances. The
analysis is prepared assuming that the bank balances at the end
of each reporting period were bank balances for the whole year.
25 basis points increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates of
bank balances.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the exposures
at the end of each reporting period do not reflect the exposures
during each reporting period.

If interest rates on bank balances had been 25 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
potential effect on the Group’s post-tax profit for the years ended
30 June 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

@

28.

°o00000

)OO O 0 o

M¥EBEE (&)

(c)

FEER
AEEHGABTSRTERNRSRENE
Al AEERBTEEHENXEARNESR
SEHRBUR - A ERBERNEEBILE
FERZREAEANEER -

HEET

AT GRE D TIRBEAE AT BRI
MERBRET - A RIS BEBR BT
ERDBEFENRITEATMAS - 582H L
HATRARERBHRITARNF XSRS
EEDMEE -

EEF A5 BREAM T ERRERHXRE
B RRARREHRNERLERRSRE
MR ER -

MIRITERMFIR LA/ TR EERAMEE
EHRFEESE  WUAREHE_Z
—NERZE-RFEANAZTHIFEZBR
BENOBEZENT -

2016 2015

e © © O

HK$/000 HK$/000
T FHT
Increase/(decrease) in profit for the year/period /8 E 11,/ (5 A)
— as a result of increase in interest rate — BRFIE HF 28 75
— as a result of decrease in interest rate — HRAFR TR (28) (75)

ZE-REERE
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

BB R M At

28. M¥EBEE(E

(d) Currency risk d) E%Ek
Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign B WEABINERR 2 HPEE - AKE
exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to foreign currency AfEzNERREEEREAGREERE Y
risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated REBAIIN EREEZHE R -
in a currency other than the functional currency of operation to
which they relate.
(i) Exposure to currency risk ) BEERAE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TRANAEEREHERRERZE
end of each reporting period to currency risk arising from ERUBREEEEA BB
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency EREECCHREERABNERE
other than the functional currency of the entity to which o AEBFEZEEET(ET) - A
they relate. The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation RE(TARE]) Br(EL)) %8
of United States dollars (“USD”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Euros (TRE ) Ry (Tne)) 38z @k -
(“EUR”), Great British Pound (“GBP”) and Canadian Dollar RERME  BHRERRIEELHUET
(“CAD"). For presentation purposes, the amounts of the 25 BRASRE MR NEF KR
exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using BWTAR
the spot rate at the end of each reporting period as follows:
usb RMB EUR GBP CAD
e ARE BT R il
|
HKS'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000
THEL THEL TEL THEL TET
As at 30 June 2016 RZB-AFRA=tH
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEY 2,922 4,960 29 33 =
As at 30 June 2015 RZB-EFXA=1H
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLEEN 713 2,090 218 9,265 756

SEEEZERERAA
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28. BIBERER(£)

28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) d E¥ERE)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BREST

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s profit after tax (and retained earnings) and
other components of consolidated equity in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of
each reporting period.

TRIFRERERREAKEFER
ERAENEXMURHENAEED
HASERHREN (RRERN) iz
RRENEMARSINARTE -

Increase/
(decrease)  Effect on profit
in foreign after tax and
exchange rates  retained earnings
HERB R
B L7,/ RRER
(T¥) (%

106

—E-REEHE

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of each reporting period and had been applied to each
of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the next reporting date. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$ and
the USD would be materially unaffected by any changes
in movement in value of the USD against other currencies.
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the
Group entities profit after tax and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated into HK$ at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of each reporting period
for presentation purposes.

Annual Report 2016

BEE ST EREEREREHRAER
W WEEBHAEEERBREA
FENEIEERIANESERE
i BERFELGEE RLAHE)
RETE -

AZBHRAEREHREET 5]
REILBRERZAREARD T
fh e ERTE - HMBRRETERTH
BNEERTERXTHAMERELRS
PiLRENEASE - LREMHD
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Notes to Financial Statements

28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(e)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholder and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes in the
objectives, policies or processes were made during the years.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which are
interest-bearing liabilities divided by total capital. Capital
includes equity attributable to owners of the Company.

28.
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(e)

EXRERER

AEEEREAE BRAREAEEREL
Bz h NARRREDGREFREEAR
e WD BRI o
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%o

2016 2015

Total interest-bearing liabilities FTEBEAE

Equity attributable to the owners NG 2PNy
of the Company

Gearing ratio BEARBELE

29. Summary of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities by Category

2016 2015

Loans and receivables ERREKHRE

Trade and other receivables EISE 5 KA 5008
Amounts due from related companies FEN IR A RIRAIR

Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBHRSTTEZEREE
Trade and other payables ENE 5 KA 508

Amount due to a director

EN—2EFHE

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHT
8,883 9,459
N/ATE N/ATER

m.%ﬁﬂ%ﬁlﬁ@ﬁé&ﬁ@ﬁﬁm

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAT
28,685 11,995
- 25
11,235 30,046
39,920 42,066
32,626 17,941
- 3,699
32,626 21,640
ZREEEMERARDA
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30. Share Option Scheme

108

Shareholders of the Company have conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 22 August, 2016.

A summary of the Scheme is set out as below:

(i)  The Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date on which Scheme becomes
unconditional.

(i) Under the Scheme, a subscription price shall be a price solely
determined by the board of directors and notified to a participant
and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of our
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of our shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and
(i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the
option.

(i)  An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

(iv)  The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of our Company (excluding, for this purpose,
shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been
granted but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme or any other share option schemes of our Company)
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all our shares in issue as at
the listing date.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

ZE-REERE
Annual Report 2016
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31.

32.

33.

Notes to Financial Statements

BB R M At

00000000000 0000000000000 ¢ -

Commitments

Details of the Group’s operating lease commitments are set out in Note
22 above. The Group has no capital commitment as at 30 June 2016
(2015:Nil).

Events after Reporting Date

On 22 August 2016, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$350,000 to HK$100,000,000 by the creation of
additional 9,965,000,000 ordinary shares.

On 22 August 2016, the Company’s share option scheme was adopted.
Details of the Scheme are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements.

On 12 September 2016, the capitalisation issue was completed. The
Company capitalised an amount of HK$17,999,999 standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company and to
appropriate such amount as to capital to pay up in full at par of
1,799,999,900 ordinary shares of the Company.

On 12 September 2016, the Company’s shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange by the share offering. In connection with
the listing, 600,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company were
issued at HK$0.15.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant events which
have taken place subsequent to 30 June 2016.

Approval of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
were approved for issue by the directors on 28 September 2016.

31.

32.

33.
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RZZE-RNENAZTZH  ARANETRAE B
#2285 %84919,965,000,000 % L 8 A% B 350,000 8 T 2
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Four-Year Financial Summary

MNEHBEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group ~ A& ESIMENRFENEEAREE - B RBENEE
for the last four financial years is as follows: mr:

GROUP RESULTS rREXE

Year ended 30 June
BEAAZHHLEFE

HK$'000
TET

132,719

GROUP ASSETS AND LIABILITIES rEBEERERE

As at 30 June
RAAZ1+H

HK$'000
TET

1,151
47,292

Note: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for each of the three years — [fiF : A&EFEHZE —F—=4% —F—-NER - F—a& =1

ended 30 June 2013, 2014 and 2015 and the assets, equity and liabilities as at At =FEEFlra # B HERR-E—=F - —F—N
30 June 2013, 2014 and 2015 have been extracted from the Group’s prospectus FRZF-RENAZTANEE  BaRABLHENAX
dated 30 August 2016. EHAHR-F—~EN\A=THNERER -

1 1 0 ;ngn;aTlifitﬁ 2016



Definitions
e

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following — TEAFERER  BXBEZEAMEIN - THIFAREBUTES

expressions shall have the following meanings.

“Articles of Association” or
“Articles”
[ERMA] o [48]

“Audit Committee”

[BHZEE)

“Board”

[E38)

“CG Code”
[ERERTH

“CGH (BVI)”
[CGH (BVI)]
“Chairman”

[£fE]

“Chief Executive Officer”

[TH#E

“China” or “PRC”

[

“Company” or
“CROSSTEC Group”

ESACIEAR -

“Company Secretary”
[RRWE]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ERER]

“Director(s)”

[E%)

“Group”
[F%M]

“HK$” or “HKD”
(B[]
“IPO”
[BRDFEE]

“Listing”
[ £

the articles of association of the Company adopted on 22 August 2016
ARARZZE—REN\AZTZBRABNHEERAA

the audit committee of the Company
RRAMEREES

the board of Directors

B%g

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LRRIMS T mrREM [REERTA

CGH (BVI) Limited, a company established in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability on 17 March 2016, which is owned by each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung as to
50%

CGH (BVI) Limited - —FIR=F—AF= A+ RERBERBRENINERETAR  HRlmERE
RRL TR 50%

the chairman of the Board

BEEIR

the chief executive officer of the Company

LYNSIEOESTEEEE

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

PEARANE  ERAFERSEEAMTE  FEEEE  BFIRGHE

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (542 5= E#E I B[R 72 7)), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 18 March 2016, and
registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) on 13 June 2016

SEEEZERERDR  —AR_Z—"E=A+/\BERSHEHMRUNERRERAR YR
Z-RERATZARBRAGAIZE 16 8 (FAENE 622 ) BLAFEERA

the secretary of the Company

RRAEINME

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and in the context of the
Company, means the controlling shareholder of the Company, namely, Mr. Lee, Ms.
Leung and CGH (BVI)

AELTRAETORE  ARARANERNF - ARANERBRREFLLE - RLLRCGH (BVI)

the director(s) of the Company
ARAMESR

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

ARARETEHHBAR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BAEAEERAT

the Company’s initial public offering of its Shares
ARABRHERRFEE

the listing of Shares on the main board of the Stock Exchange

B REER P ER £

SEEEZERERAA
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited 1 1 1



Definitions

“Listing Date”
[Em A
“Listing Rules”
[EmRA

“Macau”

2]

“Model Code”
[BEA

“Mr. Lee”
[FxE]

“Ms. Leung”
[Rzt]

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEE]

“Prospectus”

[RRER]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEEE)
“Reorganization”

[E4]

“Risk Management Committee”

[ABEEZES

//RMB//
[AE%]

“SFO”

(% RAEHRH
“Share(s)”
(B4

“Shareholder(s)”
[BRR]

“Share Option Scheme”
[T E

“Stock Exchange”
(B3 Ff |

“USD”
EvA

112 riivesortzone

12 September 2016, on which the Shares are listed and from which dealings therein
are permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

“E-REAATCR BORERA LT RAFEENR Y

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended from
time to time)

BT F R TR A (IR RBHERT)

Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PERFIRRITTER

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
IHRAME TS [ LRBRTABSETEFRHNRETA

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (£{8%), the Chairman, executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
and a Controlling Shareholder

FEERE IR RTEF  THEAREERR

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (253), a Controlling Shareholder
2L PR

the nomination committee of the Company

RRAEMRAZES

the prospectus of the Company dated 30 August 2016
ARARABEHAZZ-RE/\A=THNRKER

the remuneration committee of the Company

RRAMFHEES

the corporate reorganization of the Group in preparation for the Listing as described in
the Prospectus

ARERBRLIMETNLRER FEIANARER

the risk management committee of the Company
ARANERERZES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
PR E AR

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BHRMEGED (FALDIFESNE)  ETEET - AU ETER

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company

ARARAREREEONETHL AR

holder(s) of Share(s)

BinFBE A

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 22 August 2016
ARARZZE—NFNAZTZBARERANERE 2

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMARSMERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XEETEERET






	封面
	目錄
	公司資料 
	主席報告 
	董事及高級管理層履歷 
	管理層討論及分析 
	企業管治報告 
	董事會報告 
	獨立核數師報告 
	綜合財務報表 
	財務報表附註 
	四年財務概要 
	釋義 



